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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
INVESTMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P.
Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kuwait Investment Company
K.S.C.P.
Parent Company
(collectively,
, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted by the
Central Bank of Kuwait for use by the State of Kuwait.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
INVESTMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)
Valuation of investment securities
securities represent 49
assets, of which
KD 127,105,503 are measured at fair value and classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(FVPTL) as disclosed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
When the fair values of investment securities cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active
markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgement is required in establishing fair values, most predominantly for the instruments
categorised within Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
Given the size and complexity of the valuation of unquoted investment securities, including
the impact of the current pandemic of COVID-19 uncertainties on their valuations, and the
importance of the disclosures relating to the assumptions used in the valuation, we addressed
this as a key audit matter.
Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:
We have tested the Level 1 inputs by comparing the fair values applied by the Group to quoted
prices in active markets.
For Level 2 and Level 3 inputs, we have tested the source data used in the valuations, to the
extent possible, to independent sources and externally available market data to evaluate the
We have also challenged the significant
judgments and assumptions applied to the valuation models, including discounts for lack of
marketability.
fair value measurement of investment securities, and the sensitivity to changes in
unobservable inputs in Notes 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
INVESTMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)
Impairment of investment in associates
The Group exercises significant influence over certain entities assessed to be associates amounting to
KD 12,906,253 as at 31 December 2020, including a listed associate with a carrying value of
KD 12,511,548.
Investment in associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting for associate,
whereby these investments are initially stated at cost, and are adjusted thereafter for the postacquisition change in the Group's share of the net assets of the associates less any impairment
provisions. Management determines at the end of each reporting period the existence of any objective
such
evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying value.
The Group engaged an external management expert to assist with the impairment testing. The Group
considered, amongst other factors, the negative outlook due to the impact of the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic in the determination of the recoverable amount of the cash generating units (CGUs).
As a result of the analysis, the recoverable amount of the respective CGUs subject to impairment
testing based on value in use as at 31 December 2020 was estimated to be lower than the carrying
value of certain associates as of that date, accordingly, management has identified impairment loss on
such investments amounting to KD 2,144,133 during the year then ended largely as a result of the
negative economic outlook related to the consequences of the coronavirus pandemic.
Due to the level of judgement required in determining whether there is an indication that the carrying
value of associates may be impaired and the key assumptions used to determine the recoverable
amount if such indication exists, we identified this area as a key audit matter.
Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

We evaluated management's assessment as to whether objective evidence of impairment
factors used such as the investee's financial performance including dividends, and market,
economic or legal environment in which the associate operates. Whenever there is such
indication, we challenged the significant assumptions and valuation methods used by the
management in assessing impairment and the reasonableness and appropriateness of those
assumptions and methods in the circumstances.
We have tested source data used in these valuations, to the extent possible, with the relevant
supporting documents, independent sources and externally available market data to evaluate

statements, including disclosures of key assumptions and judgements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
INVESTMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)
Impairment of intangible assets
The Group has intangible assets of KD 11,042,602 as at 31 December 2020 representing a
brokerage license for which management assessed as having an indefinite useful life as detailed
in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. Intangible asset with an indefinite useful
life shall be tested for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with its
recoverable amount, irrespective of whether there is an indication of impairment.
The annual impairment testing of intangible assets is considered to be a key audit matter due to
the complexity of the accounting requirements, the significant judgment required in
determining the assumptions to be used to estimate the recoverable amount and further in the
context of the ongoing coronavirus pandemic. The recoverable amount of the intangible asset,
which is based on the higher of the value in use or fair value less cost to sell, has been derived
from discounted forecast cash flow models. These models use several key assumptions,
including estimates of future trading volumes, revenue growth rates, operating costs, terminal
value growth rates and the weighted-average cost of capital (discount rate).
The Group engaged an external management expert to assist with the impairment testing. No
impairment loss has been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:
We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in challenging the methodology
used in the impairment assessment and evaluating the appropriateness of the discount rates
applied, which included comparing the weighted-average cost of capital with sector averages
for the relevant markets in which the CGUs operate.
We evaluated whether the external management expert has the necessary competency,
capabilities and objectivity for audit purposes.
We assessed the appropriateness of the assumptions applied to key inputs such as trade
volumes, operating costs, inflation and long-term growth rates, which included comparing
these inputs with externally derived data as well as our own assessments based on knowledge
of the client and the industry.
We evaluated the adequacy of the Group's disclosures concerning intangible assets in Note
12 to the consolidated financial statements, including disclosures of key assumptions,
judgements and sensitivities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
INVESTMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)
Fair value measurement of investment properties
The investment properties represent a significant part of the total assets of the Group with a
carrying value of KD 27,198,847 as at 31 December 2020.
estate appraisers. The determination of fair value of the investment properties is dependent on
key inputs, such as rental value, maintenance status, market knowledge and historical
transactions, which, although not directly observable, but are corroborated by observable
market data, which have been impacted by the ongoing pandemic. The disclosures relating to
the inputs are relevant, given the estimation uncertainty involved in these valuations. The
methodology applied in determining the valuations is set out in Note 11 of the consolidated
financial statements.
Given the size and complexity of the valuation of investment properties, and the importance
of the disclosures relating to the inputs used in such valuations and the impact of the on-going
COVID-19 pandemic on the economy, we have considered this as a key audit matter.
We have considered the methodology and the appropriateness of the valuation models and
inputs used to value the investment properties.
We have tested the inputs and assumptions made by management of the Group and the
We performed procedures for areas of risk and estimation. This included, where relevant,
comparison of judgments made to current market practices and challenging the valuations
on a sample basis, particularly in light of COVID-19.
Further, we have considered the objectivity, independence and expertise of the external real
estate appraisers.
We also assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures relating to the investment properties
of the Group in Note 37 and Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements highlighting
the increased estimation and uncertainty as a result of COVID-19.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
INVESTMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Other information included in the Group 2020 Annual Report
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the
20 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor report thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company
ct to obtain the remaining
20
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed
, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
d to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing t
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
INVESTMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
INVESTMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and
the consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent
Board of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in
accordance therewith. We further report that, we obtained all the information and explanations
that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements
incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No.1 of 2016, as amended,
and its executive regulations, as amended,
Incorporation and Articles of Association, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the
best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No.1 of 2016, as amended
and its executive regulations, as amended,
Incorporation and Articles of Association have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2020
that might have had a material effect on the business of the Parent Company or on its financial
position.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
INVESTMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued)
We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any violations
of the provisions of Law No 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the Central Bank of
Kuwait and the organisation of banking business, and its related regulations, or of the provisions
of Law No 7 of 2010 concerning the Capital Markets Authority and its related regulations during
the year ended 31 December 2020 that might have had a material effect on the business of the
Parent Company or on its financial position.

BADER A. AL-ABDULJADER
LICENCE NO. 207 A
EY
(AL-AIBAN, AL-OSAIMI & PARTNERS)
21 February 2021
Kuwait
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Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
2020
KD

2019
KD

7,673,080
5,183,397
(1,205,640)
(1,692,934)
109,443
(52,803)
(516,641)
(1,367,424)
1,636,820

8,462,596
8,847,229
17,290,594
766,720
548,359
75,504
(202,782)
78,030
1,206,483
766,779

9,767,298

37,839,512

(10,516,184)
(3,274,920)

(14,180,937)
(869,661)

(13,791,104)

(15,050,598)

Operating (loss) profit

(4,023,806)

22,788,914

Finance costs
Finance income

(2,324,169)
782,424

(3,167,275)
1,192,502

(5,565,551)

20,814,141

Notes
Net fee and commission income
Rental income
Net investment (loss) income on financial assets
Change in fair value of investment properties
Gain on sale of investment properties
Gain on derecognition of a subsidiary
Share of results of associates
Net foreign exchange differences
(Charge for) release of provision for expected credit losses
Other income

24
25
11
11
1.2
10
26
27

Net operating income
General and administrative expenses
Impairment of non-financial assets

28
29

Total operating expenses

Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for Advancement of
Sciences (KFAS)
National Labour Support Tax (NLST)
Zakat
34
(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

Discontinued operations
Profit after tax for the year from discontinued operations

(5,000)
(5,570,551)

15

-

(152,914)
(475,672)
(170,469)
(145,000)
19,870,086
234,066

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(5,570,551)

20,104,152

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

(5,566,830)
(3,721)

17,504,907
2,599,245

(5,570,551)

20,104,152

30

(10) fils

32 fils

30

(10) fils

31 fils

BASIC AND DILUTED (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

BASIC AND DILUTED (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The attached notes 1 to 42 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
11

Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
2020
KD

2019
KD

(5,570,551)

20,104,152

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss) that may be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Share of other comprehensive (loss) income of associates
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

(40,610)
777,423

58,359
(728,253)

Net other comprehensive income (loss) that may be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods

736,813

(669,894)

Other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income

(4,770,703)

(2,683,568)

Net other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods

(4,770,703)

(2,683,568)

Other comprehensive loss for the year

(4,033,890)

(3,353,462)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME FOR THE YEAR

(9,604,441)

16,750,690

Attributable to:
Equity of holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

(9,443,044)
(161,397)

14,380,920
2,369,770

(9,604,441)

16,750,690

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The attached notes 1 to 42 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Share
capital
KD
As at 1 January 2020
(restated)
(Loss) for the year
Other comprehensive (loss)
income for the year
Total comprehensive (loss)
income for the year
Transfer of gain on disposal
of equity investments at
FVOCI to retained earnings
Dividends paid to equity
holders of the Parent
Company (Note 32)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests
At 31 December 2020

55,125,000
-

Treasury
shares
KD
(734,629)
-

Attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company
Asset
Foreign
revaluation
currency
Statutory
Voluntary
surplus of an
Fair value
translation
reserve
reserve
associate
reserve
reserve
KD
KD
KD
KD
KD

Retained
earnings
KD

31,805,102
-

18,855,393
(5,566,830)

21,839,216
-

2,260,091
-

(6,886,532)
-

1,231,280
-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,653,637)

777,423

-

-

-

-

-

(4,653,637)

777,423

-

-

-

-

-

(175,858)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

55,125,000

(734,629)

31,805,102

21,839,216

2,260,091

The attached notes 1 to 42 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(11,716,027)

-

2,008,703

(5,566,830)
223,072
(8,219,826)
5,291,809

Noncontrolling
interests
KD

Total
KD

Total
equity
KD

123,494,921
(5,566,830)

32,631,814
(3,721)

156,126,735
(5,570,551)

(3,876,214)

(157,676)

(4,033,890)

(9,443,044)

(161,397)

(9,604,441)

47,214
(8,219,826)
105,879,265

(47,214)
(960,498)
31,462,705

(8,219,826)
(960,498)
137,341,970

Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Share
capital
KD
As at 1 January 2019
Retrospective adjustment*
Restated balance as at
1 January 2019
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss for
the year
Total comprehensive (loss)
income for the year
Transfer to reserves
Transfer of revaluation
surplus to retained earnings
arising from change in use
Transfer of loss on disposal of
equity investments at
FVOCI to retained earnings
Reclassification of cumulative
translation reserve to profit
or loss on step disposal of a
subsidiary (Note 1.2c)
Movement in non-controlling
interests
Dividends paid to equity
holders of the Parent
Company (Note 32)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests
At 31 December 2019

Treasury
shares
KD

Attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company
Asset
Foreign
revaluation
currency
Statutory
Voluntary
surplus of an
Fair value
translation
reserve
reserve
associate
reserve
reserve
KD
KD
KD
KD
KD

Retained
earnings
KD

Noncontrolling
interests
KD

Total
KD

Total
equity
KD

55,125,000
-

(734,629)
-

29,960,206
-

19,994,320
-

4,742,731
-

(6,511,141)
-

1,856,027
-

12,275,168
(2,217,303)

116,707,682
(2,217,303)

34,126,015
(2,130,350)

150,833,697
(4,347,653)

55,125,000
-

(734,629)
-

29,960,206
-

19,994,320
-

4,742,731
-

(6,511,141)
-

1,856,027
-

10,057,865
17,504,907

114,490,379
17,504,907

31,995,665
2,599,245

146,486,044
20,104,152

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

55,125,000

(734,629)

1,844,896

31,805,102

1,844,896

21,839,216

-

(2,395,734)

(728,253)

-

(2,395,734)
-

(728,253)
-

(2,482,640)

2,260,091

2,020,343

(6,886,532)

17,504,907
(3,689,792)

(3,123,987)
14,380,920
-

(229,475)
2,369,770
-

14

16,750,690
-

-

2,482,640

-

-

-

-

(2,020,343)

-

-

-

103,506

1,231,280

(5,479,884)
18,855,393

103,506
(5,479,884)
123,494,921

(849,675)
(883,946)
32,631,814

* Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to financial statements as at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2019and reflect adjustments made as disclosed in Note 42.

The attached notes 1 to 42 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

(3,353,462)

103,506
(849,675)
(5,479,884)
(883,946)
156,126,735

Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Notes

2020
KD

2019
KD

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss) profit before tax from continuing operations
Profit before tax from discontinued operations
(Loss) profit before tax
Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash flows:
Dividend income
Finance income
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (net)
Gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Change in fair value of investment properties
Gain on sale of investment properties
Gain on liquidation/ sale of subsidiaries and an associate
Share of results of investment in associates
Net foreign exchange differences
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of non-financial assets
Charge for (release of provision) for credit losses
Finance costs
Gain on sale of property and equipment

15

25
25
25
11
11
4
10
13, 14
29
26
13

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Term deposits
Wakala receivables
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Accounts receivable and other assets
Loans and advances
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Net cash flows from operating activities

(5,570,551)
-

19,870,086
234,066

(5,570,551)

20,104,152

(1,676,995)
(782,424)
4,816,031
(1,933,396)
1,692,934
(109,443)
52,803
516,641
7,871,555
3,274,920
1,367,424
2,324,169
(423,775)

(3,363,776)
(1,192,502)
(11,730,412)
(2,196,406)
(766,720)
(548,359)
(75,504)
202,782
(78,030)
8,271,628
869,661
(1,206,483)
3,167,275
(239,902)

11,419,893

11,217,404

5,106,755
(4,156,666)
169,068
(404,630)
(6,225,472)

(1,816,788)
3,638,800
4,056,561
1,141,043
22,734
2,297,642

5,908,948

20,557,396

3,803,766
3,000,195
(3,185,000)
(5,911,788)
3,297,152
(787,220)
220,131
1,446,995
829,309

(9,430,266)
2,637,230
(2,458,207)
3,056,433
(8,498,199)
2,283,479
(170,755)
45,880
3,363,776
1,246,445

2,713,540

(7,924,184)

(190,990)
540,346
(8,146,879)
(960,498)
(1,691,316)
(2,238,722)

9,412,443
64,321
(849,675)
(5,519,988)
(883,946)
(1,687,050)
(3,190,038)

(12,688,059)

(2,653,933)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale /derecognition of a subsidiary
Maturity of debt instruments at amortised cost
Purchase of investment properties
Proceeds from sale of investment properties
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of financial assets at FVOCI
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at FVOCI
Dividend income received
Finance income received

1.2 (b)
11
13
13

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from Islamic finance payables
Net movement in non-controlling interests
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Parent Company
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities
Finance costs paid

14

Net cash flows used in financing activities
Effect of foreign currency translation adjustments

10,089

NET (DECEREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER

5

The attached notes 1 to 42 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
15

(4,232)

(4,055,482)
23,307,555

9,975,047
13,332,508

19,252,073

23,307,555

Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020
1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P
its subsidiaries (collectively, the
2020 were authorised for
issue in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors on 21 February 2021, and the shareholders have
the power to amend these consolidated financial statements at the annual general assembly meeting (AGM).
The Parent Company is a public shareholding company incorporated and domiciled in Kuwait and whose
shares are publicly traded on Boursa Kuwait. The registered office is located at Souk Al Manakh 5th floor,
Mubarak Al Kabeer Street, Sharq and its registered postal address is P.O. Box 1005 Safat, 13011 State of
Kuwait.
(KIA). The Parent Company is
as a finance

regulated by
and investment company, respectively.
primary objectives are as follows:

Invest and maximize shareholder and
through the deployment of funds in financial
securities, rights, royalties, properties, assets and other movables and immovables of all types at its own
discretion.
Participate in the establishment of other companies to realize profit in accordance with the law and
assisting in the incorporation of such companies.
Sale of shares and bonds of companies and governmental and semi-governmental institutions.
Conduct research and market surveys related to the deployment of capital and render services related to
investment operations and third party employment, including:
Securities broker not registered in the securities exchange
Investment portfolio manager
Collective investment scheme manager
Custodian
Investment controller
Subscription agent
The Parent Company may have an equity interest or in any way be associated with entities engaged in similar
activities or other activities which may assist the Group in achieving its primary objectives in Kuwait or abroad.
The Parent Company may also establish, participate in, acquire or affiliate itself with such entities.
Group is provided in Note 34.
1.2

GROUP INFORMATION

a)
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include:
Name

% equity interest
2020
2019

Principal activities

Kuwait
Kuwait
USA

45.47%
51%
100%

45.47%
51%
100%

Brokerage
Exhibition
Investment

Kuwait
Kuwait

76%
100%

76%
100%

Maritime services
Brokerage

Kuwait

100%

100%

Kuwait
Kuwait
Kuwait
Kuwait

45.75%
99.50%
100%
72.51%

45.75%
99.50%
100%
72.51%

Medical services
Leasing and
Investment
Managed fund
Managed fund
Managed fund

Country of
incorporation

KIC Financial Brokerage K.S.C. (Closed)
Kuwait International Fair Company K.S.C. (Closed)
Kuwait Foreign Investment Company
Kuwait Maritime Transportation Company K.S.C.
(Closed)
Arab Financial Services Company K.S.C. (Closed)
Al Joan International Holding Company K.S.C.
(Closed)
Al Masar Leasing and Investment Company K.S.C.
(Closed)
Al Awaed Fund
KIC Bond Fund (Under Liquidation)
Al Hilal Islamic Fund
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020
1.2

GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

a)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Name

Country of
incorporation

KIC Diversified Fund
MAJEL S.A.R.L
Hydon S.A.R.L.

Guernsey
Germany
Germany

% equity interest
2020
2019

Principal activities

99.94%
86.8%
-

Managed fund
Real estate
Real estate

99.94%
86.8%
100%

b)
step disposal (Clevedon S.A.R.L.)
During the previous year
Clevedon S.A.R.L. to acquire a commercial property in the City of Dusseldorf, the Federal Republic of
Germany amounting to
9 million). Based on the terms of the agreement
under which the entity was established, the Group receives substantially all of the returns related to the
gnificantly effect
these returns.
The entity has availed credit facilities of
annum that is repayable within 5 years from the date of disbursement.
During the previous year, there has been substantial change in the ownership interest of the subsidiary resulting
in a loss of control over the subsidiary. As a result, the Group derecognised the related assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interest and other components of equity, while the resultant gain is recognised in profit or loss. The
retained interest in the former subsidiary is accounted for as a financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9.
The total gain on the step disposal of the subsidiary is calculated as follows:
Proceeds from the sale
Net assets of the subsidiary derecognised
Fair value of asset reclassified to investment at fair value through profit or loss
Reclassification of cumulative amount of exchange differences (recognised in OCI)

KD
2,637,230
(3,791,361)
1,333,141
(103,506)

Gain on step disposal of the subsidiary attributable to the Parent Company

75,504

c)
Associates
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December. For more details, refer to Note 10.
Name
National Hotels Company B.S.C.
Ithraa Capital Company
Al Riyada Tower for Real Estate Services K.S.C.
(Closed)

Country of
incorporation

% equity interest
2020
2019

Principal activities

Bahrain
Saudi Arabia

20.94%
23%

20.94%
23%

Hospitality
Investment

Kuwait

38.76%

38.76%

Shipping
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been prepared in accordance
in the
(i.e. loans and
advances) to be measured at the higher of the amount computed under IFRS 9 in accordance to the CBK
guidelines or the provisions as required by CBK instructions; the consequent impact on related disclosures;
and the adoption of all other requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by
ed to as IFRS, as adopted for use
by the State of Kuwait). The ECL on loans and advances computed under IFRS 9 in accordance with the CBK
guidelines amounted to KD 19,023,480 as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: KD 18,993,412), which
is lower than the provision required by CBK instructions.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for investment in
equity securities and investment properties that have been measured at fair value and assets held for sale that
have been measured at fair value less costs to sell.
also the functional
currency of the Parent Company.
The Group presents its statement of financial position in order of liquidity. An analysis in respect of recovery
or settlement within 12 months after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months after the reporting
date (non-current) is presented in Note 36.
The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. In
addition, the Group presents an additional statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding
period when there is a retrospective application of an accounting policy, a retrospective restatement, or a
reclassification of items in financial statements. See Note 42.
2.2

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

2.2.1

Summary of accounting policies for new transactions and events

Government grants
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all
attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected
useful life of the related asset.
When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at nominal
amounts and released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the pattern of
consumption of the benefits of the underlying asset by equal annual instalments.
2.2.2
New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group
The Group applied, for the first time, certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of these new
accounting standards are described below. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation
or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.
Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2020, but do not have an impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations
or amendments that have been issued, but are not yet effective.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

2.2.1

New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business
The amendment to IFRS 3, Business Combinations, clarifies that to be considered a business, an integrated set
of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. Furthermore, it clarified that a business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. These amendments had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, but may impact future years should the Group enter into any
business combinations.
Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
The amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, provide a
number of reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark
reform. A hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainties about the timing and or
amount of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument. These amendments had
no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as it does not have any interest rate hedge
relationships.
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material
The amendments p
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about
The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, either
individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial statements. A
misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the
primary users. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of, nor is there
expected to be any future impact to the Group.
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued on 29 March 2018
The Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override the concepts
or requirements in any standard. The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist the IASB in developing
standards, to help preparers develop consistent accounting policies where there is no applicable standard in
place and to assist all parties to understand and interpret the standards.
The revised Conceptual Framework includes some new concepts, provides updated definitions and recognition
criteria for assets and liabilities and clarifies some important concepts.
These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases. The
amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee
may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A
lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related
rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease
modification.
The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application is
permitted. This amendment had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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2.
2.3

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of
issuance of the
amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.
Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements, to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments
clarify:
What is meant by a right to defer settlement;
That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period;
That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right;
That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms
of a liability not impact its classification.
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be
applied retrospectively. The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current
practice and whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation.
Reference to the Conceptual Framework Amendments to IFRS 3
In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3, Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual
Framework. The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.
be within the scope of IAS 37 or
IFRIC 21 Levies, if incurred separately. At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in
IFRS 3 for contingent assets that would not be affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements.
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and apply
prospectively. The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on the consolidated
financial statements.
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use Amendments to IAS 16
In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment
Proceeds before Intended Use, which
prohibits entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling
items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and
the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss.
The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be
applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the
beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment.
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Fees in the
As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS
9. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These
fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received
by
that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first
applies the amendment.
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2.
2.3

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Fees in the
(continued)
The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier
adoption permitted. The Group will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendment.
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.
2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set
out below:
2.4.1 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
as at the reporting date. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:
Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee)
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption
and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the Parent Company and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities,
non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4.2 Business combinations and acquisition of non-controlling interests
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the capital. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the capital at fair value or at the proportionate share of the capital
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative
expenses.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the capital.
Contingent consideration, resulting from business combinations, is valued at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the profit
or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired
and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at
the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over
the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently,
it is measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the requirements for
provisions in IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or the amount initially
recognised less (when appropriate) cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the requirements
for revenue recognition.
2.4.3 Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted
share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill
relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment
separately.

change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.
of the profit or loss
and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4.3 Investment in associates (continued)
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there
is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
statement of profit or
loss.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in
profit or loss.
2.4.4 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand, non-restricted cash at
banks, cash held in investment portfolios and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of three months
or less, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts (if any) as they are considered an
integral part of the
2.4.5 Term deposits
Term deposits represent deposits with banks due within three months or more from the placement date and
earn interest.
2.4.6 Financial instruments initial recognition and subsequent measurement
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another entity.
i)

Financial assets

Initial recognition and initial measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.
The
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price.
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.
to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4.6 Financial instruments
i)

initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses
upon derecognition (equity instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
a)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
b)
Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments)
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment
losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss.
c)
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-byinstrument basis.
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to
impairment assessment.
The Group elected to classify irrevocably certain equity investments under this category.
d)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
This category includes certain equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at
fair value through OCI. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in
profit or loss.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is primarily derecognise
The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4.6 Financial instruments
i)

initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition (continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.
ii)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
overdrafts.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of accounts payable, net of directly
attributable transaction costs. Refer to the accounting policy on leases for the initial recognition and
measurement of lease liabilities, as this is not in the scope of IFRS 9.
Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including loans and borrowings)
The Group has not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss and financial
liabilities at amortised cost is more relevant to the Group.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the EIR amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.
Accounts payable and accruals
Accounts payable and accruals are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for services received,
whether billed by the supplier or not.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms,or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4.6 Financial instruments

initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

iii)
Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
2.4.7 Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss as follows:
Trade and other receivables, including contract assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost (credit facilities)
Equity investments are not subject to ECLs. Further, the Group has no debt investments measured at FVOCI.
i.
Impairment of financial assets other than credit facilities
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade and other receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
ii.
Impairment of credit facilities
Credit facilities granted by the Group consist of loans and advances. Impairment on credit facilities shall be
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at an amount equal to the higher of ECL under
IFRS 9 according to the CBK guidelines, and the provisions required by the CBK instructions.
Provisions for credit losses in accordance with the CBK instructions
The Group is required to calculate provisions for credit losses on credit facilities in accordance with the CBK
instructions with respect to credit facilities and the calculation of provisions. Credit facilities are classified as
past due when a payment has not been received on its contractual payment date or if the facility is in excess of
pre-approved limits. A credit facility is classified as past due and impaired when the interest or a principal
instalment is past due for more than 90 days and if the carrying amount of the facility is greater than its estimated
recoverable value. Past due and past due and impaired loans are managed and monitored as irregular facilities
and are classified into the following four categories which are then used to determine the provisions:
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2.4.7 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
iii.

Impairment of credit facilities (continued)

Category
Watch list
Substandard
Doubtful
Bad

Criteria
Irregular for a period up to 90 days
Irregular for a period of 91- 180 days
Irregular for a period of 181- 365 days
Irregular for a period exceeding 365 days

Specific provision
20%
50%
100%

-financial circumstances.
Minimum general provisions of 1% on cash facilities and 0.5% on non-cash facilities are made on all applicable
credit facilities (net of certain restricted categories of collateral) which are not subject to specific provisioning.
2.4.8 Investment properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting
date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise. Fair values are determined based on an annual valuation performed by
an accredited external independent valuer applying appropriate valuation models
Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e., at the date the recipient
obtains control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected
from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is
recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition. The amount of consideration to be included in the
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of investment property is determined in accordance with the
requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.
Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change
in use.
2.4.9 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The
useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense
on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category that
is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.
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2.4.10 Property and equipment
Capital work in progress is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment losses, if any. Except for leasehold
land stated at revalued amount, property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and
equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to write down the cost of property and equipment to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives are, as follows:
Buildings on leasehold land
Motor vehicles
Computer equipment
Office equipment and machinery
Furniture and fixtures

10 years
4 5 years
4 years
4 years
4 years

An item of property and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
(i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised.
The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property and equipment are reviewed at each
financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
Depreciation of these assets commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
2.4.11 Impairment of non-financials assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
recoverable amount.
of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and
is written down to its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no
such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated
by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value
indicators.
The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared
forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied
to project future cash flows after the fifth year.
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2.4.11 Impairment of non-financials assets (continued)
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication
exists, the Group estimat
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss
since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is
treated as a revaluation increase.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at the reporting date and when circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount
of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is
less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot
be reversed in future periods.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually as at the reporting date at the
CGU level, as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
2.4.12 Employees end of service benefits
The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon
these benefits are
accrued over the period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to
each employee as a result of termination on the reporting date
In addition, with respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group makes contributions to the Public
expensed when due.
2.4.13 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that
reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
2.4.14 Treasury shares
are sold, gains are credited to a separate account in equity (treasury shares reserve) which is non-distributable.
Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any
excess losses are charged to retained earnings then reserves. Gains realised subsequently on the sale of treasury
shares are first used to offset any previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the
treasury shares reserve account. No cash dividends are distributed on these shares and the voting rights related
to these shares are discarded. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately
and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.
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2.4.15 Dividend distribution
The Group recognises a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the
Group. As per the
law, a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders at the
Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are disclosed as an event after the reporting
date.
2.4.16 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
2.4.17 Taxes
Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)
The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of the profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company in
accordance with the modified
reserve should be excluded from profit for the year when determining the contribution.
National Labour Support Tax
NLST is calculated at 2.5% of the profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company in accordance with
Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Ministry of Finance resolutions No. 24 of 2006.
Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit for the year attributable to Parent Company in accordance
with the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.
2.4.18 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.
Rental income
The Group is the lessor in operating leases. Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Fee and commission income
The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services it provides to its
customers. Fee and commission income is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for providing the services.
The performance obligations, as well as the timing of their satisfaction, are identified, and determined, at the
in
obligations.
When the Group provides a service to its customers, consideration is invoiced and generally due immediately
upon satisfaction of a service provided at a point in time or at the end of the contract period for a service
provided over time.
The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically
controls the services before transferring them to the customer.
2.4.19 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of profit or loss for all interest-bearing financial
instruments using the effective interest method.

30

Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4.20 Foreign currencies
functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct
method of consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that is reclassified to profit or
loss reflects the amount that arises from using this method.
Transactions and balances
functional
currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot
rates of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of
the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).
In determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or
part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance
consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of advance
consideration.
Group companies
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Kuwaiti Dinar at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are
recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign
operation is reclassified in profit or loss.
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.
2.4.21 Fiduciary assets
The Group provides trust and other fiduciary services that result in the holding or investing of assets on behalf
of its clients. Assets held in a fiduciary capacity, unless recognition criteria are met, are not reported in the
consolidated financial statements, as they are not assets of the Group.
2.4.22 Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is remote.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
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2.4.23 Segment information
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it earns
revenue and incurs cost. The operating segments used by the management of the Group to allocate resources
and assess performance are consistent with the internal report provided to the chief operating decision maker.
Operating segment exhibiting similar economic characteristic, product and services, class of custom ers where
appropriate are aggregated and reported as reportable segments.
2.4.24

Leases

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
i)
Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated
useful lives of the assets.
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section (2.4.11)
Impairment of non-financial assets.
ii)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including insubstance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include
the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are
incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
iii)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It
also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.4.24

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
2.4.25 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset (disposal
group), excluding finance costs and income tax expense.
The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the
asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete
the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or that the decision
to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale expected to
be completed within one year from the date of the classification.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for
sale.
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately in the statement of financial position.
A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been
disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and:
Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations; or
Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single
amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss.
2.4.26 Events after the reporting date
If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue,
about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, the Group will assess if the information affects
amounts recognised in its consolidated financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting
period and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in the light of the new information. For nonadjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts recognised in its consolidated
financial statements but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting event and an estimate of its financial
effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.
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estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or
liabilities affected in future periods.
3.1
Significant judgments
In the process of applying the Group s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
Classification of real estate properties
Property that is held for resale in the ordinary course of business or that in the process of development for such
sale is classified as inventory. Property held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation, or both is
classified as investment property. Property held for use in the production or supply of goods and services or
for administrative purposes is classified as property and equipment.
Classification of financial assets
The Group determines the classification of financial assets based on the assessment of the business model
within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than a majority of voting rights (de facto control)
The Group considers that it controls KIC Financ
than 50% of the voting rights. This is because the Group is the single largest shareholder of Wasata with a
45.47% equity interest. The remaining other shareholders individually own less than 11.16% of its equity
interests, and there is no history of the other shareholders collaborating to exercise their votes collectively or
to outvote the Group.
The Group assessed that the voting rights in Al Masar Leasing & Investment Company K.S.C.C. (
are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity. The Group has a majority representation on Al
Accordingly, the Group has considered the power achieved through absolute voting rights is sufficient to give
it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee company, despite the fact they have less
than 50% holding.
Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options Group as lessee
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option
to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise
either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there
is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or
not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).
The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases with shorter non-cancellable period
(i.e., three to five years). In addition, the renewal options for leases of motor vehicles are not included as part
of the lease term because the Group typically leases motor vehicles for not more than five years and, hence, is
not exercising any renewal options. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are included as
part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised.
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JUDGMENTS,
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AND
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Assets held for sale
During the previous year, the management announced its intentions to exit its investment in Hydon S.A.R.L.
y and sell its equity interest to various third party investors in the form of units that entitle
the investors to the net assets of the structured entity. The structured entity is classified as a disposal group held
for sale. The management has considered this entity to meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale for the
following reasons:
Hydon S.A.R.L. is available for immediate sale and can be sold to third-party investors in its current
condition;
The actions to complete the sale were initiated and expected to be completed within one year from the date
of initial classification;
Potential investors have been identified at the reporting date and discussions are at an advance stage;
The Board of Directors approved the plan to sell.
For more details, refer to Note 15.
3.2
Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are also described in the individual notes of the related financial statement line
items below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated
financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments,
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group.
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
Impairment of associates
Investment in associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting for associates, whereby these
investments are initially stated at cost, and are adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the Group s
share of the net assets of the associates less any impairment losses. The Group is required to assess, at each
reporting date, whether there are indications of impairment. If such indications exist, the management estimates
the recoverable amount of the associate in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). The
identification of impairment indicators and determination of the recoverable amounts require management to
make significant judgements, estimates and assumptions.
Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
The Group tests whether an intangible asset with an indefinite useful live (brokerage licence) has suffered any
impairment on an annual basis. For the 2020 and 2019 reporting period, the recoverable amount of the cash
generating units (CGUs) was determined based on value-in-use calculations which require the use of
assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth
rates (Note 12). These growth rates are consistent with forecasts specific to the industry in which each CGU
operates.
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT
(continued)

ACCOUNTING

JUDGMENTS,

3.2

Estimates and assumptions (continued)

ESTIMATES

AND

ASSUMPTIONS

Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technological obsolescence that may
change the utility of certain software and IT equipment.
Business combinations
Management uses valuation techniques when determining the fair values of certain assets and liabilities
acquired in a business combination. In particular, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the
Valuation of investment properties
The fair value of investment properties is determined by real estate valuation experts using recognised valuation
techniques and the principles of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
Investment properties under construction are measured based on estimates prepared by independent real estate
valuation experts, except where such values cannot be reliably determined. The significant methods and
assumptions used by valuers in estimating the fair value of investment properties are set out in Note 11.
Fair value measurement
Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active
market quotes are not available). This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how
market participants would price the instrument. Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far
as possible, but this is not always available. In that case, management uses the best information available.
the reporting date.
Leases Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions
of the lease (for exa
the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain
entity-alone credit rating).
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4.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On 28 June 2019, the Parent Company, through a wholly owned special purpose entity Hydon S.A.R.L,
acquired 100% equity interest in Cubeb S.A.R.L., a private company holding ownership in a commercial
property domiciled in Dusseldorf, Federal Republic of Germany. The acquisition has been accounted for using
the acquisition method.
The consideration paid and the provisional values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, are equivalent
to their carrying values at the acquisition date, and are summarised as follows:
Carrying
values on
acquisition
KD
ASSETS

Other assets
Investment property

44,585
14,131,946

Total assets

14,176,531

LIABILITIES

Term loans

8,272,358

Total liabilities

8,272,358

Equity

5,904,173

Total identifiable net assets acquired

5,904,173

Purchase consideration

5,904,173

Provisional goodwill on acquisition

-

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Cash paid

5,812,177

Term loans comprise bank loans availed from a bank in the Federal Republic of Germany amounting to of
KD 8,272,358 and repayable at maturity after 5 years with an interest rate of 1.17% per annum.
During the previous year, the management announced its intentions to exit its investment in Hydon S.A.R.L.
the investors to the net assets of the structured entity. Accordingly, the structured entity was classified as a
disposal group held for sale as at 31 December 2019.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Parent Company partially sold its equity interest in Hydon
S.A.R.L. for a total consideration of KD 3,803,766 resulting in loss of control. The resultant gain from this
transaction amounting to KD 109,443 is recognised in profit or loss. The retained interest in the former
subsidiary is accounted for as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9.
The total gain on the step disposal of the subsidiary is calculated as follows:
KD
Proceeds from the sale
Net assets of the subsidiary derecognised
Fair value of asset reclassified to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Reclassification of cumulative amount of exchange differences (recognised in OCI)
Gain on step disposal of the subsidiary attributable to the Parent Company
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5.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks, in portfolios and on hand
Short-term deposits maturing within three months

2020
KD

2019
KD

10,489,500
8,762,573

14,395,651
8,911,904

19,252,073

23,307,555

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods between one day and three months, depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at an average rate of 1% (2019: 2.4%) per annum.
6.

TERM DEPOSITS

Term deposits represent deposit with local banks with original maturities of more than three months from the
date of placement and earn interest at an average rate of 1.6% (2019: 3.2%) per annum.
7.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER ASSETS

Trade receivables
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses
Trade receivables, net
Amounts due from brokers
Management fees receivable
Prepayments and refundable deposits
Interest receivables
Accrued income
Other receivables

2020
KD

2019
KD

15,775,424
(7,011,443)

15,617,376
(5,646,303)

8,763,981
2,863,847
1,957,038
845,518
194,307
237,150
407,762

9,971,073
2,229,949
2,296,937
931,646
406,695
250,167
554,334

15,269,603

16,640,801

The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.
Note 35.2 includes disclosures relating to the credit risk exposures and analysis relating to the allowance for
expected credit l
. Other classes within accounts receivable do not contain
impaired assets.
The maximum exposure to credit risk exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each
class of receivables mentioned above.
Set out below is the movement in allowance for trade receivables:
2020
KD

2019
KD

Opening provision for impairment of trade receivables
Allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year (Note 26)
Write off
Foreign exchange movement

5,646,303
1,364,023
(1,970)
3,087

5,409,553
268,272
(23,815)
(7,707)

At 31 December

7,011,443

5,646,303
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8.

LOANS AND ADVANCES
loans and advances:

International
Domestic
Less: Provision for impairment as per CBK guidelines

2020
KD

2019
KD

6,205,362
16,071,657

6,175,295
15,697,092

22,277,019
(19,056,016)

21,872,387
(19,022,202)

3,221,003

2,850,185

International loans and advances are denominated mainly in the following foreign currencies:
2020
KD
US Dollar

2,852,066

EURO

2019
KD
2,850,185

368,937

-

Movement in provision for impairment of loans and advances during the year:
General
provision
KD

Specific
Specific
provision post provision preliberation
invasion
KD
KD

As at 1 January 2019
Reversal of provision during the year
(Note 26)
Foreign exchange movement

28,814

As at 31 December 2019
Charge of provision during the year
(Note 26)
Foreign exchange movement

28,789

13,203,651

5,789,762

19,022,202

3,401
344

256

29,813

3,401
30,413

As at 31 December 2020

32,534

13,203,907

5,819,575

19,056,016

(25)

13,226,705
(22,734)
(320)

5,799,966

Total
KD

(10,204)

19,055,485
(22,734)
(10,549)

Loans and advances earn interest at an average effective interest rate of 4.20% (2019: 5.68%) per annum.
Finance income earned was Nil (2019: KD 252,815) on impaired loans and advances.
The fair value of collateral that the Group holds relating to loans and advances to customers individually
determined to be non-performing at 31 December 2020 amounted to KD 1,219,806 (2019: KD 1,542,000). The
collateral consists of investment securities.
The Expected Credit Losses on loans and advances computed under IFRS 9 in accordance with the CBK
guidelines amounted to KD 19,023,480 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: KD 18,993,412), which is lower than
the provision required by CBK instructions. As a result, no additional provision has been made.
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9.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Debts instruments at amortised cost
Equity instruments at FVOCI
Financial assets at FVTPL

2020
KD

2019
KD

13,685,082
113,420,421

3,000,195
18,157,930
109,458,313

127,105,503

130,616,438

equity price risk is provided in Note 35.1.3. For information about
the methods and assumptions used in determining fair value refer to Note 37.
10.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the associates that are material to the
Group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant
a
of those amounts.

Total assets
Total liabilities
Equity
%
Impairment losses
(Note 29)
amount

National Hotels Company
B.S.C.
2020
2019
KD
KD

Individually immaterial
associates
2020
2019
KD
KD

68,396,014

2,380,937

(855,861)

69,917,689
(1,539,189)

67,540,153

68,378,500

20.94%

20.94%

14,142,908

14,318,458

(1,631,360)
12,511,548

(951,985)

-

4,346,882
(595,624)

2019
KD

70,776,951

74,264,571

(1,807,846)

(2,134,813)

1,428,952

3,751,258

68,969,105

72,129,758

907,478

999,384

15,050,386

15,317,842

(512,773)

14,318,458

Total
2020
KD

394,705

-

-

(2,144,133)

999,384

12,906,253

15,317,842

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the associates is set
out below:
Reconciliation to carrying amounts

2020
KD

2019
KD

At 1 January
Share of loss for the year
Impairment losses
Share of other comprehensive income
Foreign currency adjustment

15,317,842
(52,803)
(2,144,133)
(40,610)
(174,043)

15,471,798
(202,782)
58,359
(9,533)

At 31 December

12,906,253

15,317,842
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10.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
National Hotels Company
B.S.C.
2020
2019
KD
KD

Revenue
Profit (loss)

Individually immaterial
associates
2020
2019
KD
KD

2,877,776

5,698,398

153,248

146,633

1,335,511

(730,944)

252,458

(40,894)

1,587,969

(771,838)

Other comprehensive
income (loss)

(129,479)

Total comprehensive
income (loss)

17,154

Dividends received from
associate

-

profit
(loss) for the year

30,805

-

-

279,656

(83,608)

Total

145,211
(2,181,008)
6,928
(2,174,080)

(482,438)

-

2020
KD

2019
KD

3,031,024

5,843,609

(584,311)

(845,497)

(170,373)

259,386

(754,684)

(586,111)

(52,803)

(202,782)

accounted for using the most recently
published information (30 September 2020). Reviews for indicators of impairment and any resulting tests for
impairment of the investment in associates have been performed as at the annual reporting date 31 December
2020.
As at 31 December 2020
on quoted market price in Bahrain Bourse) was KD 2,514,064 (2019: KD 5,205,972) and the carrying amount
of the net assets of the entity exceeds its market capitalisation.
Further, with the recent developments of the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak, there are both external and
internal sources of information, such as overall decline in the activities of certain associates, as well as ongoing
econo
that the associates may be impaired. Accordingly, the Group concluded that the CGU should be tested for
impairment.
Impairment assessment of National Hotels Company B.S.C.
Management considered, amongst other factors, the negative outlook due to the impact of the coronavirus
pandemic in the determination of the recoverable amount of the cash generating units (CGUs).

The recoverable amount was estimated based on the present value of the future estimated cash flows expected,
to be derived from the CGU (value in use). The future estimated cash flows post COVID-19 have decreased
on account of economic uncertainties involved and the corresponding impact of the same on the hotel industry
in the region. The value in use calculation is determined based on reasonable and supportable assumptions
concerning projections approved by management (as part of the budget). These cash flows cover a five-year
period using an average annual growth rate of 8% over the forecast period based on past performance and
of the
office tower and hotel operations is 10% and 11.60% respectively (2019: 10% and 15.89% respectively) and
cash flows beyond the five-year budget period are extrapolated using a 3.3% long-term growth rate (2019:
3%).
As a result of the analysis, the recoverable amount of the respective CGUs subject to impairment testing based
on value in use as at 31 December 2020 was estimated to be lower than the carrying value of the associates as
of that date, accordingly, management has identified impairment loss on its investment in an associate National Hotels Company B.S.C amounting to KD 1,631,360 during the year ended 31 December 2020 largely
as a result of the negative economic outlook related to the consequences of the coronavirus pandemic.
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INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Impairment assessment of individually immaterial associates
Given the substantial economic downturn that is predicted from the immediate impacts of the COVID-19
pandemic, management has determined, based on the current market conditions and near-term prospects of an
ociate is impaired, and accordingly, the Group has recorded a
full impairment for the remaining carrying value of the investment in the associate amounting to KD 512,773
(2019: KD Nil).
Key assumptions used in value in use calculations and sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Annual revenue growth rate during the forecast period
Discount rate
Long-term growth rates (terminal value) used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period
Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Management performed a sensitivity analysis to assess the changes to key assumptions that could cause the
carrying value of the associate to exceed its recoverable amount. These are summarised below:
A decline in the annual revenue growth rate during the forecast period by 5% would result in a further
impairment by KD 550,716.
A rise in the discount rate to 1% would result in a further impairment of KD 155,441.
A reduction in the long-term growth rate to -1%would result in a further impairment of KD 482,563.
The above sensitivity analyses is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
11.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2020
KD

2019
KD

At 1 January
Arising on a business combination (Note 4)
Reclassified as part of assets held for sale (Note 15)
Additions
Disposals
Step disposal of a subsidiary
Effect of foreign exchange differences
Change in fair value

24,965,377
3,185,000
741,404
(1,692,934)

24,567,437
14,131,946
(13,921,648)
11,181,270
(2,680,074)
(8,611,888)
(468,386)
766,720

At 31 December

27,198,847

24,965,377

The Group has pledged investment properties with a carrying amount of KD 7,975,010 (2019: KD 7,266,421)
in order to fulfil the collateral requirements for term loans (Note 19).
The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to
purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and enhancements
Valuation of investment properties
The fair value of investment properties is determined based on valuations performed by independent and
accredited valuers with recognised and relevant professional qualification and with recent experience in
locations and categories of investment properties being valued. The valuation models applied are consistent
with the principles in IFRS 13 and fair value is determined using a mix of the income capitalisation method
and the market comparison approach considering the nature and usage of each property. Fair value using the
income capitalisation method is estimated based on the normalised net operating income generated by the
property, which is divided by the capitalisation (discount) rate. Under the market comparison approach, fair
value is estimated based on comparable transactions. The unit of comparison applied by the Group is the price
decrease of KD 1,692,934 compared to its carrying values as at 31 December 2020 (2019: increase of KD
766,720).
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)
The Group classifies investment properties as either Level 2 or Level 3 in the fair value. Fair value hierarchy
disclosures for investment properties are in Note 37.
Disposals of investment properties
In 2019, the Group sold certain investment properties with a total net carrying amount of KD 2,680,074 for a
total cash consideration of KD 3,228,433, net of attributable expenses. The resulting in net gains on disposal
of KD 548,359 were recognised separately in the statement of profit or loss.
12.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets mainly represent a brokerage license acquired by a subsidiary, KIC Financial Brokerage
been renewed and have allowed the Group to determine
that the asset has an indefinite useful life.
The Group performed its annual impairment test in December 2020 and 2019.
The recoverable amount has been determined based on value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections
from financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period based on the historical pattern of
trade volumes, revenue growth and market share. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 9.28%
(2019: 10.3%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a 2.4% growth rate (2019:
3%), which does not exceed the long-term average growth rate of the State of Kuwait.
As a result of the analysis, the recoverable amount of the entire CGU based on value in use as at 31 December
2020 was estimated to be KD 13,552,621 (2019: KD 11,109,337). As a result of the analysis, there is headroom
of KD 2,510,019 (2019: KD 66,735) and management did not identify an impairment for this CGU.
Key assumptions used in value in use calculations and sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Discount rate
Market share during the forecast period
Long-term growth rate (terminal value) used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period
Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Management performed a sensitivity analysis to assess the changes to key assumptions that could cause the
carrying value of the intangible asset to exceed its recoverable amount. These are summarised below:
A rise in the discount rate to 9.78% (i.e. +0.5%) would result in a decrease in carrying amount by KD
951,442.
A reduction in the long-term growth rate to 1.9% (i.e. -0.5%) would result in a decrease in carrying amount
by KD 726,446.
over the forecast period, a decline in the market share by 2.5% would result in a decrease in the carrying
amount by KD 573,431.
The above sensitivity analyses is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
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13.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Buildings on
leasehold land
KD

Motor vehicles
KD

Computer
equipment
KD

Cost
At 1 January 2019
Additions
Transfer
Disposals

16,935,867
174,334
32,500
-

19,577,400
7,833,016
(6,351,323)

1,267,803
35,360
-

3,079,839
27,789
-

3,051,459
172,796
-

5,350,671
254,904
(32,500)
-

49,263,039
8,498,199
(6,351,323)

At 31 December 2019
Additions
Transfer
Disposals

17,142,701
49,603
-

21,059,093
5,722,519
(8,132,506)

1,303,163
23,555
-

3,107,628
774
51,546
(11,537)

3,224,255
22,176
400
(58,095)

5,573,075
116,716
(75,501)
-

51,409,915
5,911,788
(8,202,138)

At 31 December 2020

17,192,304

18,649,106

1,326,718

3,148,411

3,188,736

5,614,290

49,119,565

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2019
Depreciation charge for the year
Impairment (Note 29)
Disposals

8,997,873
823,188
-

5,113,215
5,028,796
(4,307,746)

1,077,838
76,035
-

2,907,574
33,874
-

2,657,570
207,734
-

869,661
-

20,754,070
6,169,627
869,661
(4,307,746)

At 31 December 2019
Depreciation charge for the year
Impairment (Note 29)
Disposals

9,821,061
721,751
-

5,834,265
4,790,554
(5,259,133)

1,153,873
17,599
-

2,941,448
11,140
(11,533)

2,865,304
228,526
(58,095)

869,661
1,130,787
-

23,485,612
5,769,570
1,130,787
(5,328,761)

At 31 December 2020

10,542,812

5,365,686

1,171,472

2,941,055

3,035,735

2,000,448

25,057,208

Net book value
At 31 December 2020

6,649,492

13,283,420

155,246

207,356

153,001

3,613,842

24,062,357

At 31 December 2019

7,321,640

15,224,828

149,290

166,180

358,951

4,703,414

27,924,303
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fixtures
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progress
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Total
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13.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Disposals of property and equipment
In 2020, the Group sold motor vehicles with a total net carrying amount of KD 2,873,377 (2019: KD 2,043,577)
for a cash consideration of KD 3,297,152 (2019: KD 2,283,479). The net gain on these disposals amounting to
KD 423,775 (2019: KD 239,902) was recognised as part of operating income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
Assets under construction
During the previous years, the Group incurred capital expenditure with the intention of constructing medical
facilities and exhibition facilities. The Group has started construction and costs incurred up to 31 December
2020 totalled KD 5,614,290 (2019: KD 5,573,075).
During the current year, the impairment loss of KD 1,130,787 (2019: KD 869,661) represented the write-down
of certain pro
the geopolitical situation and deteriorating economic conditions in the country in which assets are located.
Depreciation of property and equipment
Depreciation included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is allocated as follows:
2020
KD
Rental income
General and administrative expenses (Note 28)

14.

2019
KD

4,707,158
1,062,412

5,018,198
1,151,429

5,769,570

6,169,627

LEASES

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property used in its operations. Leases of land and buildings
generally have lease terms between 6 and 10
assets.
The Group also has certain leases of equipment with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office
exemptions for these leases.
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:
Land
KD

Buildings
KD

Total
KD

As at 1 January 2019
Depreciation expense

3,013,554
(753,388)

8,015,191
(1,348,613)

11,028,745
(2,102,001)

As at 31 December 2019
Additions
Depreciation expense

2,260,166
(753,388)

6,666,578
36,160
(1,348,597)

8,926,744
36,160
(2,101,985)

As at 31 December 2020

1,506,778

5,354,141

6,860,919
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LEASES (continued)

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:
2020
KD
As at 1 January
Additions
Accretion of interest
Payments
Rent concessions (Note 27)

2019
KD

10,751,984
36,160
242,668
(1,691,316)
(1,049,130)

12,140,782
298,252
(1,687,050)
-

As at 31 December

8,290,366

10,751,984

Current
Non-current

1,795,698
6,494,668

3,263,827
7,488,157

8,290,366

10,751,984

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the statement of
financial position is 4.5%.
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 35.3.
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:
2020
KD

2019
KD

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities

2,101,985
242,668

2,102,001
298,252

Total amount recognised in profit or loss

2,344,653

2,400,253

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of KD 1,691,316 in 2020 (KD 1,687,050 in 2019). The Group
also had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of KD 36,160 in 2020 (Nil in 2019).
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15.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

During the previous year, the management announced its intentions to exit its investment in Hydon S.A.R.L
-party investors in the form of units that
entitle the investors to the net assets of the structured entity. As a result, the associated assets and liabilities of
the structured entity were presented as held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019
During the current year, the structured entity was sold during the months of January and February in 2020 and
is reported in the prior period as a discontinued operation. Financial performance and cash flow information
for the period to the date of disposal are immaterial.
Financial information relating to the discontinued operation for the year ended 31 December 2019 are presented
below:
2019
KD
Rental income

327,444

Interest expense
General and administrative expense

(47,723)
(45,655)

Profit for the year from discontinued operations

234,066

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the structured entity classified as held for sale as at 31 December
2019 are, as follows:
2019
KD
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable and other assets
Investment property

116,910
160,834
13,921,648

Assets held for sale

14,199,392

LIABILITIES

Term loans

8,149,258

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale

8,149,258

Net assets directly associated with disposal group

6,050,134

over a period of 5 years having an effective interest rate of 1.17% per annum.
2019
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted profit for the year from discontinued operations
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16.

DEPOSITS FROM BANKS AND CUSTOMERS

Deposits from banks
Deposits from customers

2020
KD

2019
KD

50,777,422
31,669,460

39,382,348
43,255,524

82,446,882

82,637,872

Deposits from bank represents deposits carry an average effective interest rate of 1.47% (2019: 2%) per annum.
Deposits from customers carry an average effective interest rate of 0.68% (2019: 2.7 %) per annum.
17.

ISLAMIC FINANCE PAYABLES
2020
Murabaha
KD

Ijara
KD
Gross amount
Less: deferred finance costs

2019
Total
KD

KD

1,269,615
(9,481)

8,648,822
(31,461)

9,918,437
(40,942)

9,417,182
(80,033)

1,260,134

8,617,361

9,877,495

9,337,149

Islamic finance payables bear an average finance cost of 3.88% (2019: 4.75%) per annum and are secured by
the shares of
subsidiary.
18.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

31 December 31 December
2020
2019
KD
KD
Sundry creditors and accrued expenses
Accrued staff leave
Rentals received in advance
Interest payable
Dividends payable
Other payables

19.

(Restated)
1 January
2019
KD

8,291,894
6,333,471
930,544
137,307
5,000
328,623
537,091
37,396

13,935,231
6,028,858
710,655
331,122
145,000
244,595
482,195
20,447

12,699,825
5,722,075
654,677
276,383
95,000
267,358
505,478
10,935

16,601,326

21,898,103

20,231,731

TERM LOANS

Secured loan (EUR)

Average interest rate

Maturity

2020
KD

1.58% per annum

31 December 2022

4,099,304

The loan is secured
11).

2019
KD
3,735,076

Federal Republic of Germany (Note
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20.

SHARE CAPITAL
Number of shares
2020
2019

Shares of 100 fils each (paid in cash)

21.

551,250,000

551,250,000

Authorised, issued and fully paid
2020
2019
KD
KD
55,125,000

55,125,000

TREASURY SHARES

Number of shares
Percentage of issued shares

2020

2019

3,261,581
0.5917%
734,629
394,651

3,261,581
0.5917%
734,629
489,237

Reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares held are not available for distribution during the holding
period of such shares as per CMA guidelines.
22.

STATUTORY RESERVE

remuneration
shall be transfe
directors. The annual general assembly of the Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such transfer when
the reserve exceeds 50% of the issued share capital. The reserve may only be used to offset losses or enable
the payment of a dividend up to 5% of paid-up share capital in years when profit is not sufficient for the
payment of such dividend due to absence of distributable reserves. Any amounts deducted from the reserve
shall be refunded when the profits in the following years suffice, unless such reserve exceeds 50% of the issued
share capital.
23.

VOLUNTARY RESERVE

randum of Incorporation and
A
required to be transferred to the voluntary reserve. Such annual transfers may be discontinued by a resolution
of the
ly upon a recommendation by the Board of Directors. There are no
restrictions on the distribution of this reserve.
24.

RENTAL INCOME

Rental income derived from investment properties
Rental and other related expenses
Vehicle rental income (net)
Exhibition income (net)*

* Exhibition income has declined due to
pandemic.
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2020
KD

2019
KD

5,391,672
(2,430,419)
1,969,741
252,403

3,436,481
(2,589,005)
2,541,320
5,458,433

5,183,397

8,847,229
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25.

NET INVESTMENT (LOSS) INCOME ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Dividend income
Unrealised (loss) gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

26.

2020
KD

2019
KD

1,676,995
(4,816,031)
1,933,396

3,363,776
11,730,412
2,196,406

(1,205,640)

17,290,594

(CHARGE FOR) RELEASE OF PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES
2020
KD

Accounts receivables and other assets (Note 7)
Wakala receivables*
Loans and advances (Note 8)

2019
KD

(1,364,023)
(3,401)

(268,272)
1,452,021
22,734

(1,367,424)

1,206,483

* During the previous year, the court issued a settlement order for an amount of KD 3,642,206 as per the final
verdict previously issued in favour of a subsidiary. As a result, a previously recognised impairment loss of
KD 1,452,021 was reversed. Such reversal was

27.

OTHER INCOME
2020
KD

Reversal of legal provisions
Fair value adjustments in a subsidiary related to exchange of assets
Government assistance*
Rent concessions**
Other

2019
KD

416,238
1,049,130
171,452

317,922
281,457
167,400

1,636,820

766,779

Government assistance*
In an attempt to mitigate the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government of Kuwait has introduced
measures to aid private entities in response to the pandemic. These measures include government assistance
made towards national workforce in the private sector for a period of up to six months effective from April
2020.
The financial support amounting to KD 416,238 is accounted for in accordance with IAS 20
ther
staff costs.
Accounting covid-19 related rent concessions**
As a response to the economic impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the lessor agreed to waive lease payments
for certain months during the year. There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.
Accordingly, the Group treated the concession as an event or condition which triggers a negative variable
payment and accounted for the reduction in future lease payments by derecognising the part of the lease liability
which has been forgiven (Note 14) and recognised the adjustment in profit or loss. Depreciation of the rightof-use asset continues over the remaining lease term.
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28.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Included in general and administrative expenses:
2020
KD

2019
KD

Staff costs

5,696,811

7,377,787

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 13)

1,062,412

1,151,429

29.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
2020
KD

Impairment of investment in associates (Note 10)
Impairment of property and equipment (Note 13)

30.

2019
KD

2,144,133
1,130,787

869,661

3,274,920

869,661

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the (loss) profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS
is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of
ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares. As there are no dilutive instruments outstanding, basic and diluted earnings per share are identical.
2020

2019

(Loss) profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations (Note 15)

(5,566,830)
-

17,270,841
234,066

(Loss) profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company (KD)

(5,566,830)

17,504,907

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (shares) *
Basic and diluted EPS (fils)

547,988,419

547,988,419

(10)

32

From continuing operations attributable to the equity holders of the
Parent Company
From discontinued operations (Note 15)

(10)
-

31
1

Total basic and diluted EPS attributable to the equity holders of the
Parent Company

(10)

32

* The weighted average number of shares takes into account the weighted average effect of changes in treasury
shares during the year.
There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the
reporting date and the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements.
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30.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) (continued)

To calculate the EPS for discontinued operations (Note 15), the weighted average number of ordinary shares
for both the basic and diluted EPS is as per the table above. The following table provides the profit amount
used:
2020
KD
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent from discontinued
operations for the basic and diluted EPS calculations

31.

2019
KD

-

234,066

MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is provided below:
Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:
Country of
incorporation
and operation

Name

2020

2019

Kuwait
Kuwait

49%
54.53%

49%
54.53%

Kuwait

54.25%

54.25%

Al Masar Leasing & Investment Company K.S.C.

Accumulated balances of material non-controlling interest:
KIFCO
Wasata
Al Masar

2020
KD

(Restated)
2019
KD

11,125,217
6,741,766
10,291,520

11,532,482
6,590,028
11,200,438

2020
KD

2019
KD

Profit (loss) allocated to material non-controlling interest:
KIFCO
Wasata
Al Masar

390,701
161,376
(580,873)

1,185,173
153,285
1,032,724

The summarised financial information of these subsidiaries, based on amounts before inter-company
eliminations, is provided below.
Summarised statement of comprehensive income
KIFCO

Revenue
Expenses
Profit for the year

Wasata

Al Masar

2020
KD

2019
KD

2020
KD

2019
KD

2020
KD

2019
KD

4,762,191
(3,964,857)

6,708,841
(4,290,154)

1,125,080
(821,893)

936,684
(655,582)

1,966,363
(3,136,270)

4,355,406
(2,754,634)

2,418,687

303,187

281,102

(1,169,907)

1,600,772

(55,211)

7,275

797,334

Other comprehensive
(loss) income

(128,502)

Total comprehensive
income

668,832

2,558,764

294,211

273,854

(1,225,118)

1,608,047

Attributable to NCI
Dividends paid to NCI

327,728
735,000

1,253,794
735,000

160,433
-

149,332
-

(664,627)
225,498

872,365
148,946

140,077

(8,976)
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31.

MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Summarised statement of financial position
KIFCO
Restated
2020
2019
KD
KD

Wasata
2020
KD

Al Masar
2019
KD

2020
KD

2019
KD

Current assets
Non-current assets

17,438,324
12,818,862

21,488,892
14,082,647

2,452,646
11,289,925

2,129,585
11,218,150

15,159,752
13,323,623

13,319,883
15,205,791

TOTAL ASSETS

30,257,186

35,571,539

13,742,571

13,347,735

28,483,375

28,525,674

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

4,477,083
3,076,637

8,259,959
3,776,946

1,202,700
176,463

1,117,551
145,042

12,886,419
-

11,389,789
-

TOTAL LIABILITIES

7,553,720

12,036,905

1,379,163

1,262,593

12,886,419

11,389,789

TOTAL EQUITY

22,703,466

23,534,634

12,363,408

12,085,142

15,596,956

17,135,885

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the
Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

11,578,249
11,125,217

12,002,152
11,532,482

5,621,642
6,741,766

5,495,114
6,590,028

5,305,436
10,291,520

5,935,447
11,200,438

Summarised statement of cash flows
KIFCO

Cash flows from operating
activities
Cash flows from investing
activities
Cash flows from financing
activities
Net increase (decrease)
in cash and cash
equivalents

32.

Wasata

Al Masar

2020
KD

2019
KD

2020
KD

2019
KD

2020
KD

2019
KD

(3,202,266)

3,602,122

483,077

501,669

5,503,226

5,616,922

5,144,573

(1,643,180)

(74,357)

(262,879)

(5,549,195)

(5,143,370)

(1,500,000)

(1,500,000)

(74,384)

(74,105)

(132,663)

(391,412)

334,336

164,685

(178,632)

82,140

442,307

458,942

DISTRIBUTIONS MADE AND PROPOSED

Cash dividends on ordinary shares declared and paid:
Final dividend for 2019: 5 fils per share (2018: 10 fils per share)
Proposed dividends on ordinary shares:
Proposed cash dividend for 2020: Nil (2019: 5 fils per share)

2020
KD

2019
KD

8,219,826

5,479,884

-

8,219,826

Proposed dividends on ordinary shares are subject to approval at the annual general assembly meeting and are
not recognised as a liability as at 31 December.
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33.

FIDUCIARY ASSETS

The Group manages investment portfolios on behalf of KIA, government agencies and financial institutions.
The total value of these portfolios at 31 December 2020 amounted to KD 2.007 billion (2019: KD 2.134 billion)
which are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
The portfolios have no recourse to the general assets of the Group. The Group makes investment decisions in
line with the respective agreements.
Income earned from fiduciary assets amounted to KD 6,457,407 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
KD 7,091,471).
34.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

shareholders, entities under
common control, directors and executive officers of the Group, close members of their families and entities of
which they are principal owners or over which they are able to exercise significant influence or joint control.
Pric
The following table shows the aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances with related parties:

Consolidated statement of financial position
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Deposits from customers
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Management fees and commission income
Finance costs

2020
KD

2019
KD

34,901
31,669,460

127,621
43,255,524

3,419,391
(612,350)

3,577,884
(1,063,070)

Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel comprise of the Board of Directors and key members of management having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. The aggregate
value of transactions related to key management personnel were as follows.
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
Salaries and other short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

2020
KD

2019
KD

572,944
45,000
81,884

1,169,863
120,000
68,710

699,828

1,358,573

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company have proposed a
amounting to KD
5,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: KD 145,000). This proposal is subject to the approval of
the shareholders at the AGM of the Parent Company.
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

liabilities, comprise loans and borrowings (including Islamic finance
payables), deposits from banks and customers, accounts payable and other liabilities. The main purpose of
ts include
cash and cash equivalents, term deposits, accounts receivable and other assets, loans and advances that derive
directly from its operations. The Group also holds investments in equity and debt instruments.
The Group is exposed to market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.
financial risks and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Group. The risk committee
by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in
a
for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.
35.1 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other
price risk, such as equity price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings,
deposits, debt and equity investments
35.1.1 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
ure to the risk of changes in market interest
short-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.
The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate financial
assets and financial liabilities. Further, t
credit facilities from local financial institutions and constantly monitoring interest rate fluctuations.
Exposure to interest rate risk
the Group is as follows.
2020
KD
Fixed-rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

Variable-rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

(Restated)
2019
KD

142,375,106
20,700,630

147,257,239
25,633,179

163,075,736

172,890,418

18,941,656
75,723,051

26,361,877
70,076,918

94,664,707

96,438,795

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed-rate instruments
does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting
model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate instruments
A reasonably possible change of 50 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have resulted in a
decrease in profit for the year by KD 283,907 (2019: KD 218,575). This analysis assumes that all other
variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant.
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35.
35.1

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Market risk (continued)

35.1.2 Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group incurs foreign currency risk on transactions denominated in
a currency other than
n exchange rates relates

The Group currently does not use financial derivatives to manage its exposure to currency risk. The Group
manages its foreign currency risk based on the limits determined by management and a continuous assessment
pected exchange rate movements. The Group ensures that its net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by dealing in currencies that do not fluctuate significantly against the
KD.
assets and liabilities at the reporting date:
Liabilities
2020
KD

Currency
US Dollar (USD)
Bahraini Dinar (BHD)
EURO (EUR)

Assets
2019
KD

57,603,858
7,466,886
10,313,215

61,605,984
7,711,966
22,703,499

2020
KD
54,048,295
14,630,107
14,081,894

2019
KD
55,703,149
16,902,229
24,354,009

Foreign exchange rate sensitivity
The following tables demonstrate the effect of a reasonably possible change in the aforementioned exchange
due to changes in the fair value
of monetary assets and liabilities is as follows:
2020
Change in
exchange
rate
Currency
USD
BHD
EUR

5%
5%
5%

Effect on
profit
KD

2019
Effect on
equity
KD

1,054,335
267,416
10,062

876,557
625,577
178,372

Effect on
profit
KD
1,191,395
256,410
35,466

Effect on
equity
KD
896,254
715,923
117,991

There has been no change in the methods and the assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis.
An equivalent decrease in each of the aforementioned currencies against the KD would have resulted in an
equivalent but opposite impact.
35.1.3 Equity price risk
as at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
(Note 9).
-listed equity investments are susceptible to market price risk arising from
uncertainties about future values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk through
diversification and by placing limits on individual and total equity instruments. Reports on the equity portfolio
Senior Management reviews
and approves all major equity investment decisions.
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

35.1

Market risk (continued)

35.1.3 Equity price risk (continued)
At the reporting date, the exposure to non-listed equity investments and unquoted funds at fair value was
KD 109,163,295 (2019: KD 111,331,356). Sensitivity analyses of these investments have been provided in
Note 37.1.
arkets and other international markets.
The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the respective price indices in the relevant
market on the G
that the equity
indexes had increased or decreased by 5% respectively, with all other variables held constant, and that all the
G
2020
Market indices
Boursa Kuwait
GCC markets
Other International markets

% change in
equity price
+5
+5
+5

Effect on
profit
KD
+ 213,523
+ 161,434
+ 396,871

Effect on
equity
KD
+ 18,610
-

Total
KD
+ 232,133
+ 161,434
+396,871

2019
Market indices
Boursa Kuwait
GCC markets
Other International markets

% change in
equity price
+5
+5
+5

Effect on
profit
KD
+ 347,218
+ 195,117
+ 231,417

Effect on
equity
KD
+ 69,247
-

Total
KD
+ 416,465
+ 195,117
+ 231,417

35.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily
loans and advances and trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and
financial institutions, and other financial instruments (including investment in debt securities).
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets
as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Term deposits
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Loans and advances
Investment in debt securities (corporate bonds and sukuk)
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2020
KD

2019
KD

19,252,073
11,738,183
8,763,981
5,660,104
3,221,003
-

23,307,555
16,844,938
9,971,073
5,738,082
2,850,185
3,000,195

48,635,344

61,712,028
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

35.2

Credit risk (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is limited because the counterparties are
reputable financial institutions with appropriate credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
Further, the principal amounts of deposits in local banks (including saving accounts and current accounts) are
guaranteed by the Central Bank of Kuwait in accordance with Law No. 30 of 2008 Concerning Guarantee of
Deposits at Local Banks in the State of Kuwait which came into effect on 3 November 2008.
Impairment on cash and cash equivalents and term deposits has been measur
basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its cash and cash equivalents
have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties and CBK guarantee of deposits
placed with local banks.
Debt investments and other financial assets at amortised cost
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in liquid debt securities and only with
counterparties that have appropriate credit ratings and, therefore, are considered to be low credit risk
investments. Other debt instruments are considered to have a low risk of default and management believes that
the counterparties have a strong capacity to meet contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
As a result, the impact of applying the expected credit risk model at the reporting date was immaterial.
Trade receivables
of trade receivables from individual customers, which comprise a very large number of small balances. The
Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity. The Group does not hold collateral as security.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk expos
provision matrix:
31 December 2020
Expected credit loss rate
Estimated total gross carrying
amount at default
Expected credit loss

31 December 2019
Expected credit loss rate
Estimated total gross carrying
amount at default
Expected credit loss

Total
KD

< 60 days
KD

Days past due
60 90 days
91 180 days
KD
KD

> 180 days
KD

1.80%

9.00%

5.11%

62.86%

15,775,424
7,011,443

3,001,537
54,067

340,084
30,593

1,538,963
78,601

10,894,840
6,848,182

Total
KD

< 60 days
KD

15,617,376
5,646,303

Days past due
60 90 days
91 180 days
KD
KD

> 180 days
KD

0.54%

2.12%

25.01%

52.17%

3,903,389
21,056

626,159
13,281

634,998
158,802

10,452,830
5,453,164
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

35.2

Credit risk (continued)

Loans and advances
Definition of default
The Group considers loans and advances to be in default and therefore Stage 3 (credit impaired) for ECL
calculations when:
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group; or
borrower is considered as credit impaired based on qualitative assessment for internal credit risk
management purposes.
Any credit impaired or stressed facility that has been restructured would also be considered as in default.
The Group considers a variety of indicators that may indicate unlikeliness to pay as part of a qualitative
assessment of whether a customer is in default. Such indicators include:
Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
A breach of contract such as default or past due event; or
The lender having granted to the borrower a concession, that the lender would otherwise not consider, for
Borrower is deceased
The G
stage 3 when it no longer meets any of the default criteria. In respect of restructured facilities which are
classified in stage 3, these would be required to complete the moratorium period (if any) and meet the scheduled
payments (all on current basis) for at least 1 year, or as determined by the Group for consideration for
classifying the facility in stage 2/stage 1.
Significant increase in credit risk
The Group continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or a
portfolio of instruments is subject to 12 months ECL or life time ECL, the Group assess as whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The quantitative criteria used to determine a
significant increase in credit risk is a series of relative and absolute thresholds. All financial assets that are 90
days past due are deemed to have significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and migrated to
stage 2 even if other criteria do not indicate a significant increase in credit risk. In addition to the above
quantitative criteria, the Group applies qualitative criteria for the assessment of significant increase in credit
risk based on monitoring of certain early warning signals.
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses and are measured as the present value of all cash
shortfalls discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial instrument. Cash shortfall represents the
difference between cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
group expects to receive. The key elements in the measurement of ECL include probability of default (PD),
loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD). The Group estimates these elements using appropriate
credit risk assumptions, nature and value of collaterals, forward-looking macro-economic scenarios, etc.
The Group calculates ECL on credit facilities classified in stage 3 at 100% of the defaulted exposure net of
value of eligible collaterals after applying applicable haircuts.

59

Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020
35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

35.2

Credit risk (continued)

Loans and advances (continued)
PD estimation process
The probability of default (PD) is the likelihood that an obligor will default on its obligations in the future.
IFRS 9 requires the use of separate PD for a 12-month duration and lifetime duration depending on the stage
allocation of the obligor. A PD used for IFRS 9 should reflect the G
The Group utilises the internal credit standings of its loan customers and other measures and techniques which
seek to take account of all aspects of perceived risk in estimating the PD for IFRS 9. Furthermore, the Group
Exposure at default
Exposure at default (EAD) represents the amount which the obligor will owe to the Group at the time of default.
The G
sed
portions for cash facilities.
Loss given default
Loss given default (LGD) is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD
Concentration of financial assets
The distribution of financial assets by geographic region for 2020 and 2019 is as follows:
GCC
KD
31 December 2020
18,206,990
Cash and cash equivalents
11,738,183
Term deposits
Accounts receivable and other assets
(excluding prepayments)
13,610,299
3,221,003
Loans and advances

Europe
KD
235,138
813,705
-

46,776,475

1,048,843

GCC
KD

Europe
KD

31 December 2019
17,440,012
Cash and cash equivalents
16,844,938
Term deposits
Accounts receivable and other assets
(excluding prepayments)
15,554,848
2,850,185
Loans and advances
3,000,195
Investment securities
55,690,178

4,706,505
154,307
4,860,812
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America
KD
801,211
-

Asia
KD
8,734
-

19,252,073
11,738,183

-

14,424,085
3,221,003

8,734

48,635,344

81
801,292
America
KD
935,333
935,333

Total
KD

Asia
KD
225,705
225,705

Total
KD
23,307,555
16,844,938
15,709,155
2,850,185
3,000,195
61,712,028
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

35.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its
objective when
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities
when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking
damage to the
To limit this risk, management has arranged for diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit base,
and adopted a policy of managing assets with liquidity in mind and monitoring future cash flows and liquidity
on an ongoing basis. The Group has developed internal control processes and contingency plans for managing
liquidity risk. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high grade
collateral which could be used to secure additional funding if required.
The Group maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that are assumed to be easily liquidated
in the event of an unforeseen interruption in cash flow. The Group also has lines of credit that it can access to
meet liquidity needs.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

35.3

Liquidity risk (continued)

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by contractual maturities
undiscounted payments:
2020
Less than 3
months
KD

3 - 12
months
KD

2019
Over 1 year
KD

Total
KD

Less than
3 months
KD

3 - 12
months
KD

Over
1 year
KD

Total
KD

Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks and customers
Islamic finance payables
Accounts payable and other liabilities
(excluding rentals received in advance and
p
benefits)
Lease liabilities
Term loans

82,756,058
8,838,516

2,617,070
1,797,943

96,009,587

1,076,020

7,513,478

8,589,498

-

82,756,058
9,914,536

80,561,984
2,531,287

2,394,693
-

6,917,549

7,468,868
4,293,611

10,130,548
9,266,811
4,293,611

1,898,499
1,688,906
-

13,639,624
1,485,077
-

8,780,334
3,971,133

15,538,123
11,954,317
3,971,133

11,762,479

116,361,564

86,680,676

17,519,394

19,669,016

123,869,086
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36.

MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be
recovered or settled. Trading assets and liabilities have been classified to mature and/or be repaid within 12
months, regardless of the actual contractual maturities of the products.
Within 12
months

31 December 2020
After 12
months

Total

KD

KD

KD

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Term deposits
Accounts receivable and other assets
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Investment in associates
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Total assets

19,252,073
11,738,183
15,269,603
3,221,003
87,561,871
-

39,543,632
12,906,253
27,198,847
11,042,602
24,062,357
6,860,919

19,252,073
11,738,183
15,269,603
3,221,003
127,105,503
12,906,253
27,198,847
11,042,602
24,062,357
6,860,919

137,042,733

121,614,610

258,657,343

82,446,882
9,877,495
10,267,855
1,795,698

6,333,471
4,099,304
6,494,668

82,446,882
9,877,495
16,601,326
4,099,304
8,290,366

104,387,930

16,927,443

121,315,373

32,654,803

104,687,167

137,341,970

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and customers
Islamic finance payables
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Term loans
Lease liabilities
Total liabilities
Net
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MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)
Within 12
months

31 December 2019
After 12
months

Total

KD

KD

KD

ASSETS

23,307,555
16,844,938
14,199,392
16,640,801
2,850,185
85,771,459
-

44,844,979
15,317,842
24,965,377
11,042,602
27,924,303
8,926,744

23,307,555
16,844,938
14,199,392
16,640,801
2,850,185
130,616,438
15,317,842
24,965,377
11,042,602
27,924,303
8,926,744

159,614,330

133,021,847

292,636,177

82,637,872
8,149,258
2,521,830
15,869,245
3,263,827

6,815,319
6,028,858
3,735,076
7,488,157

82,637,872
8,149,258
9,337,149
21,898,103
3,735,076
10,751,984

Total liabilities

112,442,032

24,067,410

136,509,442

Net

47,172,298

108,954,437

156,126,735

Cash and cash equivalents
Term deposits
Assets held for sale
Accounts receivable and other assets
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Investment in associates
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and customers
Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale
Islamic finance payables
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Term loans
Lease liabilities

37.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:
Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
such as investment properties and unquoted equity investments.
External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties and unquoted
equity investments. Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by the senior management Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
and inputs to use for each case.
The Group measures financial instruments such as investment in equity securities and mutual funds, and nonfinancial assets such as investment properties, at fair value at each reporting date. Fair-value related disclosures
for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value, including the valuation methods,
significant estimates and assumptions are disclosed below.
Set out below that are a summary of financial instruments and non-financial assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis, other than those with carrying amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair values:
Financial instruments
Investment securities (at fair value)
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities
Unquoted funds

Non-financial assets
Investment properties

2020
KD

2019
KD

18,670,332
39,543,632
68,891,539

16,284,887
44,844,979
66,486,377

127,105,503

127,616,243

27,198,847

24,965,377

Management assessed that the fair value of the following financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying
amounts:
Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits
Accounts receivables, loans and advances
Debt investments and other financial assets at amortised cost
Deposits from banks and customers
Islamic finance payable
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Valuation methods and assumptions
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
Listed investment in equity securities
Fair values of publicly traded equity securities are based on quoted market prices in an active market for identical
assets without any adjustments. The Group classifies the fair value of these investments as Level 1 of the
hierarchy.
Unlisted equity investments
The Group invests in private equity companies that are not quoted in an active market. Transactions in such
investments do not occur on a regular basis. The Group uses a market-based valuation technique for the majority
of these positions. The Group determines comparable public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage
and strategy, and calculates an appropriate trading multiple for each comparable company identified. The trading
multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and size differences between the comparable
companies based on company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to the
corresponding earnings measure of the investee company to measure the fair value. The Group classifies the fair
value of these investments as Level 3.
Unlisted mutual funds
The Group invests in managed funds, which are not quoted in an active market and which may be subject to
restrictions on redemptions such as lock up periods. The management considers the valuation techniques and
inputs used in valuing these funds as part of its due diligence prior to investing, to ensure they are reasonable and
appropriate. Therefore, the NAV of these investee funds may be used as an input into measuring their fair value.
In measuring this fair value, the NAV of the funds is adjusted, as necessary, to reflect restrictions on redemptions,
future commitments, and other specific factors of the investee fund and fund manager. In measuring fair value,
consideration is also paid to any transactions in the shares of the investee fund. Depending on the nature and level
of adjustments needed to the NAV and the level of trading in the investee fund, the Group classifies these funds
as Level 2.
Investment properties
The fair value of investment properties was assessed by accredited independent real estate experts with
recognised and relevant professional qualification and with recent experience in the location and category of the
investment properties being valued. The valuation models applied are consistent with the principles in IFRS 13
and fair value is determined using a mix of the income capitalisation method and the
market comparison approach considering the nature and usage of each property. Fair value using the income
capitalisation method is estimated based on the normalised net operating income generated by the property, which
is divided by the capitalisation (discount) rate. Under the market comparison approach, fair value is estimated
based on comparable transactions. The unit of comparison applied by the Group is the price per square meter
The fair value of investment property are classified as either level 2 or level 3.

66

Kuwait Investment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020
37.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

37.1

Financial instruments

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables provide the fair value
at fair value:

31 December 2020
Financial assets at FVTPL:
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities
Unquoted funds
Financial assets at FVOCI
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities

Investment securities (at fair value)

31 December 2019
Financial assets at FVTPL:
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities
Unquoted funds
Financial assets at FVOCI
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities

Investment securities (at fair value)

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices
Significant
in active
observable
markets
inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
KD
KD

Total
KD

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)
KD

17,506,905
27,021,977
68,891,539

17,506,905
-

68,891,539

27,021,977
-

113,420,421

17,506,905

68,891,539

27,021,977

1,163,427
12,521,655

1,163,427
-

-

12,521,655

13,685,082

1,163,427

-

12,521,655

127,105,503

18,670,332

Total
KD

68,891,539

39,543,632

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices
Significant
in active
observable
markets
inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
KD
KD

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)
KD

15,167,277
27,804,659
66,486,377

15,167,277
-

66,486,377

27,804,659
-

109,458,313

15,167,277

66,486,377

27,804,659

1,117,610
17,040,320

1,117,610
-

-

17,040,320

18,157,930

1,117,610

-

17,040,320

127,616,243

16,284,887

66,486,377

There were no transfers between any levels of the fair value hierarchy during 2020 or 2019.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

37.1

Financial instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values
The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of items categorised within Level 3
between the beginning and the end of the reporting period:
Financial
assets at
FVOCI
KD

Financial
assets at
FVTPL
KD

Total
KD

As at 1 January 2020
Remeasurement recognised in OCI
Remeasurement recognised in profit or loss
Purchases / sales (net)
Reclassified from Assets held for sale (Note 4)

17,040,320
(4,541,363)
22,698
-

27,804,659
(2,834,588)
(225,781)
2,277,687

44,844,979
(4,541,363)
(2,834,588)
(203,083)
2,277,687

As at 31 December 2020

12,521,655

27,021,977

39,543,632

Financial
assets at
FVOCI
KD

Financial
assets at
FVTPL
KD

Total
KD

As at 1 January 2019
Remeasurement recognised in OCI
Remeasurement recognised in profit or loss
Purchases / sales (net)

22,062,462
(5,201,611)
179,469

23,312,622
2,591,347
1,900,690

45,375,084
(5,201,611)
2,591,347
2,080,159

As at 31 December 2019

17,040,320

27,804,659

44,844,979

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy, together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December are as shown below:
Significant unobservable valuation inputs

Discount for lack of marketability (DLOM)

Range

Sensitivity of the input to fair value

5% - 50%
(2019: 5% - 40%)

10% (2019: 10%) increase (decrease) in
the discount would decrease (increase)
the fair value by KD 744,679 (2019: KD
496,274).

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Group has determined that market
participants would take into account when pricing the investments.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

37.2
The

Non-financial assets

31 December 2020
Investment properties (Note 11)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
Investment in associates (Note 10)

-financial assets:

Total
KD
27,198,847
2,514,064

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices
Significant
in active
observable
markets
inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
KD
KD
-

8,744,761

2,514,064

-

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)
KD
18,454,086
-

31 December 2019
Investment properties (Note 11)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
Investment in associates (Note 10)

24,965,377
5,205,972

-

6,237,750

5,205,972

-

18,727,627
-

There were no transfers between any levels of the fair value hierarchy during 2020 or 2019.
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values
Reconciliation for recurring fair value measurement of investment properties categorised within Level 2 and 3 of
the fair value hierarchy is disclosed in Note 11.
Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy are the yield rate (income capitalisation approach) and price per sqm (market approach).
Sensitivity analysis
Significant increase (decrease) in yield rate and price per sqm in isolation would result in a significantly higher
(lower) fair value of the properties.
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38.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company.
capital management is to maximise the shareholder value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
at acceptable levels. The Group
includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and short-term
deposits, excluding discontinued operations.
issued capital and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company.
2020
KD

(Restated)
2019
KD

96,423,681
16,601,326

95,710,097
21,898,103

113,025,007
(30,990,256)

117,608,200
(40,152,493)

82,034,751

77,455,707

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company (B)

105,879,265

123,494,921

Capital and net debt (C)

187,914,016

200,950,628

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits
Net debt (A)

Gearing ratio (A / C)

43.66%

38.54%

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019.
39.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

Letters of guarantee
Investment commitments
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40.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its products and services and has
four reportable segments, as follows:
Asset Management: Consists of securities trading and management of funds and portfolios
Direct Investments and Corporate Finance (DICF): Consists of managing subsidiaries, associates, long
term strategic investments, lending , real estate and rental activities
Treasury: Consists of foreign exchange contracts and money market activities
Other operations: Management and support activities
The Executive Management Committee is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) and monitors the
operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is measured
consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, respectively:
31 December 2020
Segment income
Segment expenses
Segment results
Depreciation and
amortisation
Share of results of associates
Impairment of non-financial
assets
Segment (loss) profit
Total assets
Total liabilities
Other disclosures:
Investment in associates
Capital expenditure

Asset
management
KD

DICF
KD

Treasury
KD

12,315,041
(5,470,983)

3,075,247
(4,014,142)

2,104,428
(1,691,575)

6,844,058
(187)
-

(938,895)

Other
operations
KD

412,853

(7,857,600)
(52,803)

(10)
-

(3,274,920)

-

(83,048)
(606,241)

17,411,668
(11,782,941)

(689,289)

5,628,727

(13,758)
-

(7,871,555)
(52,803)

-

(3,274,920)

6,843,871

(12,124,218)

92,903,600

161,973,730

-

3,780,013

258,657,343

27,469

32,187,615

82,563,316

6,536,973

121,315,373

-

12,906,253
5,907,011

4777

12,906,253
5,911,788
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412,843

Total
KD

-

(703,047)

(5,570,551)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Asset
management
KD

DICF
KD

Treasury
KD

Other
operations
KD

Total
KD

Segment income
Segment expenses

20,888,139
(4,981,120)

19,145,727
(7,306,720)

3,513,836
(2,457,953)

3,041,359
(2,395,045)

46,589,061
(17,140,838)

Segment results

15,907,019

11,839,007

1,055,883

31 December 2019

Depreciation and
amortisation
Share of results of associates
Impairment of non-financial
assets

(156)
-

(3)

646,314

29,448,223
(8,271,628)
(202,782)

(8,238,228)
(202,782)

-

(33,241)
-

(869,661)

-

-

(869,661)

Segment profit

15,906,863

2,528,336

1,055,880

613,073

20,104,152

Total assets

89,445,368

194,326,663

3,325,760

5,538,386

292,636,177

318,133

40,450,040

82,890,839

12,850,430

136,509,442

Total liabilities
Other disclosures:
Investment in associates
Capital expenditure

-

15,317,842
8,498,199

-

-

15,317,842
8,498,199

Geographical information
country of domicile and
other countries. In presenting the geographical information, segment income has been based on the geographical location
from which income is derived and segment assets were based on the geographic location of assets.
31 December 2020
Kuwait
Other GCC countries
Other Middle East and North Africa (MENA)
Europe
Americas
Asia

Revenue
KD
5,381,326
(2,440,945)
(47,628)
4,979,774
1,508,358
1,168,837

Assets
KD
166,328,964
39,536,613
2,363,894
36,418,892
7,837,197
6,171,783

Capital
expenditure
KD
5,911,788
-

10,549,722

258,657,343

5,911,788

Revenue
KD

31 December 2019
Kuwait
Other GCC countries
Other Middle East and North Africa (MENA)
Europe
Americas
Asia
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Assets
KD

Capital
expenditure
KD

31,164,007
1,150,518
530,485
5,165,545
963,011
292,514

187,749,829
47,854,273
2,662,570
40,656,544
8,271,585
5,441,376

8,498,199
-

39,266,080

292,636,177

8,498,199
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IMPACT OF COVID-19 OUTBREAK

The Covid-19 outbreak was first reported near the end of 2019. At that time, a cluster of cases displaying the symptoms
2019, China alerted the World Health Organisation (WHO) of this new virus. On 30 January 2020, the International
wide. On 11 March 2020, the WHO declared the Covid19 outbreak to be a pandemic.
The currently known impact of COVID-19 on the Group are:
Impairment of non-financial assets during the year ended 31 December 2020 of KD 3,274,920 in total (Note 29).
Allowances for expected credit losses on trade receivables amounting to KD 1,364,023 charged during the year
ended 31 December 2020. (Note 7)
Rental income down by 41% year-over-year due to lower vacancy, rent concessions provided to lessees, and
government measures taken to temporarily close certain facilities.
Revaluation loss on investment properties amounting to KD 1,692,934, on account of decrease in the fair value rates
of properties as at 31 December 2020.
Net investment loss on financial assets during the year amounting to KD 1,205,640 (Note 25) on account of decline
in the fair valuations in the equity markets.
worldwide imposed travel bans and strict quarantine measures. Businesses are dealing with lost revenue and disrupted
supply chains. While the country has started to ease the lockdown, the relaxation has been gradual. The Covid-19
pandemic has also resulted in significant volatility in financial markets and as a result, the government has announced
measures to provide financial assistance to the private sector.
Entities should consider whether to disclose the measures they have taken, in line with the recommendations of the
WHO and national health authorities, to preserve the health of their employees and support the prevention of contagion
in their administrative and operational areas, such as working from home , reduced work shifts in operational areas to
minimise the number of workers commuting, rigorous cleaning of workplaces, distribution of personal protective
equipment, testing of suspected cases and measuring body temperature.
statements. While the
within those areas.

arise in the future.
Accounts receivable and other assets
The Group was required to revise certain inputs and assumptions used for the determination of expected credit losses
-looking estimates used by the Group in the estimation
of ECL as the segmentation applied in previous periods may no longer be appropriate and may need to be revised to
reflect the different ways in which the COVID-19 outbreak affects different types of customers (e.g. by extending
payment terms for trade receivables or by following specific guidance issued by the government in relation to the collection
of lease or other payments). The Group will continue to assess impact of the pandemic as more reliable data becomes
available and accordingly determine if any adjustment in the ECL is required in subsequent reporting periods.
Impairment of non-financial assets
As at the reporting date, the Group has considered the potential impact of the current economic volatility in the
determination of the rep
-financial assets and the unobservable inputs are developed using
the best available information about the assumptions that market participants would make in pricing these assets at the
reporting date. Markets however remain volatile and the recorded amounts remain sensitive to market fluctuations.
The Group acknowledges that certain geographies and sectors in which these assets are located are negatively impacted,
and as the situation continues to unfold, the Group will continuously monitor the market outlook and use relevant
assumptions in reflecting the values of these non-financial assets as and when they occur.
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IMPACT OF COVID-19 OUTBREAK (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment properties
The market disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in a reduction in transactional evidence and market
yields, and accordingly, there is an increased risk that the price realised in an actual transaction would differ from the
value conclusion arrived by the valuers.

viability of their business and their ability to meet their rental obligations. This uncertainty is factored into the valuation
of investment property, specifically in estimating rent payments from existing tenants, the void periods, occupancy rates,
expected market rental growth rates and the discount rate, all of which are significant inputs into the fair value
determination. As a result of this increased uncertainty, the assumptions may be revised significantly in 2021.
Fair value measurement of investment securities
The Group has considered potential impacts of the current market volatility in determination of the reported amounts of
information as at the reporting date. Given the impact of COVID 19, the Group is closely monitoring whether the fair
values of its investment securities represent the price that would be achieved for transactions between market participants
in the current scenario.
Government assistance
In an attempt to mitigate the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government of Kuwait has introduced measures to
aid private entities in response to the pandemic. These measures include government assistance made towards national
workforce in the private sector for a period of up to six months effective from April 2020.
During the current year, the Group received an aggregate amount of KD 416,238 from the Public Authority for
Manpower. The financial support is accounted for in accordance with IAS 20
nd
periods in which the Group recognises expenses for the related staff costs. . There is no outstanding balance of deferred
income or receivable related to this grant as at 31 December 2020.
Going concern assessment
its
operations. Management has therefore modelled a number of different scenarios considering a period of 12 months from
the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements in the light of current economic conditions and all
available information about future risks and uncertainties. The assumptions modelled are based on the estimated potential
impact of COVIDyear. The impact of COVID-19 may continue to evolve, but
as at the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the projections show that the Group has ample
resources to continue in operational existence and its going concern position remains largely unaffected and unchanged
from 31 December 2019. As a result, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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RETROSPECTIVE ADJUSTMENT

On adoption of IFRS 16
Parent Company, accounted for a leased property used in its operations, previously classified as an operating
lease, using the modified retrospective method and recognised a single lease liability and right-of-use asset at the
present value of future lease payments based on the remaining lease term of 4 years ending on 11 November 2022
as KIFCO was reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease up to that period.
On 28 October 2020, KIFCO signed a revised lease contract with the Ministry of Finance for the leased property
for a 10 years term effective from the date of expiry of the previous lease contract (i.e. 11 November 2012). No
incremental rent has been paid for the period from the date of expiry of the previous lease contract (i.e. 11
November 2012) till 31 December 2018, the period prior to the initial application of IFRS 16.
As a consequence, the Group restated the opening balances of liabilities and equity as at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period (i.e. 1 January 2019) for which the lease terms and conditions apply in accordance
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 1 January 2019

Retrospective restatement
As previously
reported
KD

Adjustments
KD

As restated
KD

Retained earnings
Others
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

12,275,168
104,432,514
34,126,015
150,833,697

(2,217,303)
(2,130,350)
(4,347,653)

10,057,865
104,432,514
31,995,665
146,486,044

Accounts payable and other liabilities
Others
Total liabilities

15,884,078
86,394,837
102,278,915

4,347,653
4,347,653

20,231,731
86,394,837
106,626,568

Retrospective restatement

As at 31 December 2019

As previously
reported
KD

Adjustments
KD

As restated
KD

Retained earnings
Others
Non-controlling Interests
Total equity

21,072,696
104,639,528
34,762,164
160,474,388

(2,217,303)
(2,130,350)
(4,347,653)

18,855,393
104,639,528
32,631,814
156,126,735

Accounts payable and other liabilities
Others
Total liabilities

17,550,450
114,611,339
132,161,789

4,347,653
4,347,653

21,898,103
114,611,339
136,509,442

investing and financing cash flows.
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